
 
CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA                           CITY COUNCIL MEETING & 
 CITY HALL COUNCIL CHAMBERS                            PUBLIC HEARING AGENDA 

 

 

  

April 19, 2022  5:30 pm 
pppp.M. 

 

1. Call to Order by Mayor Jonathan McCollar 

 

2. Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance by Councilmember Phil Boyum   

 

3. Recognitions/Public Presentations 

A) Presentation of a Certificate of Recognition to Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr. 

B) Proclamation for Georgia Cities Week 

 

4. Public Comments (Agenda Item): 

 

5. Consideration of a Motion to approve the Consent Agenda 

A) Approval of Minutes 

a) 04-05-2022 Council Minutes 

b) 04-05-2022 Executive Session Minutes 

 

6. Second Reading and Consideration of a motion to approve Ordinance 2022-02: An 

Ordinance amending Chapter 2 of the Statesboro Code of Ordinances establishing the 

Greener Boro Commission.  

 

7. Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve Application RZ 22-03-01: 

Hermann Enterprises, LLC requests a Zoning Map Amendment on a 0.52 acre parcel 

from the R-15 (Single-family Residential) zoning district to the O (Office) Zoning 

District in order to expand the commercial uses on the property located at 108 South 

Zetterower Avenue (Tax Parcel # S40 000006 000). 

 

8. Public Hearing and Consideration of a motion to approve a Package Distilled Spirits 

Location Reservation in accordance with City of Statesboro Alcohol Ordinance Chapter 

6-13(a) and 6-23(h): 

 

Stephen Bradley Clarke DBA Clark Beverages  

607 Brannen St 

Statesboro, GA 30458 

 

9. Public Hearing and Consideration of a motion to approve a Package Distilled Spirits 

Location Reservation in accordance with City of Statesboro Alcohol Ordinance Chapter 

6-12(a) and 6-23(h): 

 

FTJ Enterprises, LLC DBA S’Boro Liquors  

860 Buckhead Dr 

Statesboro, GA 30458 

 



 

 

 

 

10. Public Hearing and Consideration of a motion to approve a Package Distilled Spirits 

Location Reservation in accordance with City of Statesboro Alcohol Ordinance Chapter 

6-13(a) and 6-23(h) : 

 

Lindsay Martin DBA L/C Package Sales 

2823 Northside Dr W.  

Statesboro, GA 30458 

 

11. Public Hearing and Consideration of a motion to approve a Package Distilled Spirits 

Location Reservation in accordance with City of Statesboro Alcohol Ordinance Chapter 

6-13(a) and 6-23(h): 

 

a. 3 Brothers 2021 LLC DBA Two Guys Beverage 

520 Fair Road Ste. 410 

Statesboro, GA 300458 

 

b. Blue Mile Wine & Spirits LLC DBA Blue Mile Wine & Spirits 

12 Brannen St.  

Statesboro, GA 30458 

 

12. Consideration of a motion to approve an employment agreement with W. Keith Barber to 

serve as the Municipal Court Judge.  

 

13. Consideration of a motion to approve a lease agreement with ADOM Enterprises, LLC in 

the amount of $42,000.00 for twelve months for the employee health clinic.  

 

14. Other Business from City Council 

 

15.  City Managers Comments 

 

16. Public Comments (General) 

 

17. Consideration of a Motion to enter into Executive Session to discuss “Personnel Matters” 

“Real Estate” and/or “Potential Litigation” in accordance with O.C.G.A 50-14-3(b) 

 

18. Consideration of a Motion to Adjourn 



A ProclAmAtion by the mAyor And 

city council of StAteSboro, GeorGiA 
GEORGIA CITIES WEEK  

April 24-29, 2022 
WHEREAS:  city government is the closest most citizens, and the one with the most direct daily 

impact upon its residents; and  

WHEREAS:  city government is administered for and by its citizens, and is dependent upon 
public commitment to and understanding of its many responsibilities; and 

WHEREAS:  city government officials and employees share the responsibility to pass along their 
understanding of public services and their benefits; and  

WHEREAS: Georgia Cities Week is a very important time to recognize the important role played 
by city government in our lives; and 

WHEREAS: this week offers an important opportunity to spread the word to all the citizens of 
Georgia that they can shape and influence this branch of government which is 
closest to the people; and 

WHEREAS: the Georgia Municipal Association and its member cities have joined together to 
teach students and other citizens about municipal government through a variety of 
different projects and information; and  

WHEREAS: Georgia Cities Week offers and important opportunity to convey to all citizens of 
Georgia that they can shape and influence government through their civic 
involvement. 

   
NOW, THEREFORE be it resolved that the City of Statesboro declares April 24-29 2022 as 
Georgia Cities Week. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the City of Statesboro encourages all citizens, city 
government officials and employees to do everything possible to ensure that this week is 
recognized and celebrated accordingly. 
 
PASSED AND ADOPED by the City of Statesboro this 19th day of April, 2022 

 
 

 ______________________ 
 Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 



 
 
  
 
 

CITY OF STATESBORO 
COUNCIL MINUTES 

APRIL 05, 2022 

1 
 

 
Regular Meeting                         50 E. Main St. City Hall Council Chambers                                      9:00 AM 
 

1. Call to Order 
Mayor Jonathan McCollar called the meeting to order  

 
2. Invocation and Pledge 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr gave the Invocation and led the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
ATTENDENCE  

Attendee Name Title Status Arrived 
Jonathan McCollar Mayor Present   
Phil Boyum Councilmember Present    
Paulette Chavers Councilmember Present  
Venus Mack Councilmember Present  
John Riggs Councilmember Present   
Shari Barr Mayor Pro Tem  Present  

 
Other staff present: City Manager Charles Penny, Assistant City Manager Jason Boyles, I.T. Support Specialist Alan 
Schleder, City Attorney Cain Smith and City Clerk Leah Harden 

 
3. Public Comments (Agenda Item):  None 

 
4. Consideration of a Motion to approve the Consent Agenda 

A) Approval of Minutes 
a) 03-15-2022 Council Minutes 
b) 03-15-2022 Executive Session Minutes 

B) Consideration of a motion for approval of surplus and disposition of a 2005 New 
Holland Tractor and a 2009 Ford F-150 in the Public Works and Engineering 
Department.  

 
A motion was made to approve the consent agenda.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               NAYS 
 
 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Councilmember John Riggs 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 



2 
 

 
5. Consideration of a motion to approve an emergency purchase by the Statesboro Fire 

Department for a natural gas HVAC system from Middle Georgia Mechanical Heating and 
Air to replace the current system at Station 1 in the amount of $41,250.00. 

 
A Motion was made to approve an emergency purchase by the Statesboro Fire Department for a natural gas HVAC 
system from Middle Georgia Mechanical Heating and Air to replace the current system at Station 1 in the amount of 
$41,250.00. 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               NAYS: 
 
 

6. Public Hearing and Consideration of a motion to approve the First Reading of Ordinance 
2022-02: An Ordinance amending Chapter 2 of the Statesboro Code of Ordinances 
establishing the Greener Boro Commission.  

 
A motion was made to open the public hearing.     
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               NAYS: 
 
 
A motion was made to close the public hearing.  
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               NAYS: 
 
No one spoke for or against the request.  
 
 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember John Riggs 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 



 

3 
 

A motion was made to approve the First Reading of Ordinance 2022-02 amending Chapter 2 of the Statesboro Code of 
Ordinances establishing the Greener Boro Commission.    
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               NAYS: 
 
 

7. Consideration of a motion to approve Resolution 2022-13: A Resolution amending the job 
position classification and compensation plan, updating the pay grade of the Communications 
Supervisor and reclassifying the Communications Officer to an Assistant Communications 
Supervisor in the Statesboro Police Department.    

 
A motion was made to approve Resolution 2022-13 amending the job position classification and compensation plan, 
updating the pay grade of the Communications Supervisor and reclassifying the Communications Officer to an Assistant 
Communications Supervisor in the Statesboro Police Department.      
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               NAYS: 
 
 

8. Consideration of a motion to approve Resolution 2022-14: A Resolution to adopt an 
amendment to the Capital Improvement Program for Fiscal Year 2022 – Fiscal Year 2027. 

 
A motion was made to approve Resolution 2022-14 adopting an amendment to the Capital Improvement Program for 
Fiscal Year 2022 – Fiscal Year 2027.    
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               NAYS: 
 
 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember Venus Mack  

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 



4 
 

9. Consideration of a motion to approve Resolution 2022-15: A Resolution to waive Section 62-
2(j)(6) of the Statesboro Code of Ordinances to allow for a maximum of 20% rental occupancy 
for the development of Fernhill Farms Subdivision by L&S Acquisitions, LLC (Tax Parcels # 
MS57000004 000 & MS57000006 000) under the Subdivision Incentive Program. 

 
City Manager Charles Penny stated under the Subdivision Incentive Program there is a provision that states for a period 
of one year developers cannot rent any of the homes they build. However when speaking with potential developers this 
is a major sticking point. Our plan is to look at the overall ordinance and come back to you but in the meantime we have 
a project that has been approved for an incentive grant. However without this modification to the agreement the developer 
is not willing to move forward.  
 
Councilmember Phil Boyum asked what processes are in place to ensure that only 20% of these houses will be rented. 
How do we monitor this? 
 
Mr. Penny stated that this is the first time we’ve made this modification. We don’t give the money to the developer right 
up front so that would be the best way to monitor compliance with the 20% number. 
 
Councilmember Boyum stated his concern about making a decision without putting a process in place ensuring 
compliance.    
 
Assistant City Manager Jason Boyles stated that from a staff level we can verify if it’s owner occupied or rentals through 
the permitting and CO process. 
 
City Attorney Cain Smith stated this is solely a resolution in order to enter into a developer agreement. When we go 
against our own ordinances we need to admit that openly through resolution as in this case waiving the requirement 
under 62-2(j)(6) which prohibits all rentals for a period of one year. In this situation we would allow up to 20% rentals 
during the first year. All of this is spelled out in the development agreement which is the next item on the agenda. This 
is an enforceable agreement that has to be entered into before those funds can be expended to the developer.  
 
A motion was made to approve Resolution 2022-15 to waive Section 62-2(j)(6) of the Statesboro Code of Ordinances 
to allow for a maximum of 20% rental occupancy for the development of Fernhill Farms Subdivision by L&S 
Acquisitions, LLC (Tax Parcels # MS57000004 000 & MS57000006 000) under the Subdivision Incentive Program.  
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               NAYS: 
 
 

10. Consideration of a motion to approve a development agreement between the City of Statesboro 
and L&S Acquisitions, LLC for installation of public infrastructure for the development 
Fernhill Farms Subdivision by L&S Acquisitions, LLC (Tax Parcels # Ms57000004 000 & 
MS57000006 000) under the Subdivision Incentive Program.  

 
Councilmember Boyum asked if the developer has to build the houses in order to receive money back from the 
infrastructure.  
 
Assistant City Manager Jason Boyles replied no they have to complete the infrastructure itself.   

Approved 4-1 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

Councilmember Phil Boyum 



 

5 
 

City Manager Charles Penny recommended that we create a callback provision in the agreement that if they exceed 20% 
rentals it would be grounds for calling the bond. That way we would be able to recover a portion of our funds we 
committed to the program.  
 
A motion was made to approve a development agreement with the identified amendment between the City of Statesboro 
and L&S Acquisitions, LLC for installation of public infrastructure for the development Fernhill Farms Subdivision by 
L&S Acquisitions, LLC (Tax Parcels # Ms57000004 000 & MS57000006 000) under the Subdivision Incentive Program.    
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               NAYS: 
 
 

11. Consideration of a motion to award a contract to Sikes Brothers Inc. in the amount of 
$1,088,424.05 for the annual resurfacing project and approval to spend up to the budgeted 
amount of $1,099,747.10 for additional work based on unit prices in the contractor’s bid. This 
project is paid by GDOT LMIG funds and 2018 TSPLOST funds.  

 
A motion was made to award a contract to Sikes Brothers Inc. in the amount of $1,088,424.05 for the annual resurfacing 
project and approval to spend up to the budgeted amount of $1,099,747.10 for additional work based on unit prices in 
the contractor’s bid. This project is paid by GDOT LMIG funds and 2018 TSPLOST funds.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               NAYS: 
 
 

12. Consideration of a motion to approve Change Order 2 with Y-Delta, Inc. in the amount of 
$33,714.79 for Stillwell Street and Zetterower Ave. Intersection improvements project and 
authorize the Mayor to execute contract document amendments.  

 

A motion was made to approve Change Order 2 with Y-Delta, Inc. in the amount of $33,714.79 for Stillwell Street and 
Zetterower Ave. Intersection improvements project and authorize the Mayor to execute contract document amendments.    
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               NAYS: 

Approved 4-1 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

Councilmember Phil Boyum 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember John Riggs 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 



6 
 

13. Other Business from City Council:  
 
Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr congratulated Allen and Elena and everybody at DSDA for a successful First Friday event. 
Also the Farmers Market is opening this Saturday at its new location on South Main Street behind Statesboro Convention 
and Visitors Bureau. Lastly Alona Fountain, a local mortgage officer at Core Credit and is from the Ukraine, is working 
together with Pittman Park United Methodist Church to raise funds for relief efforts in the Ukraine. So if you’re looking 
for a way to help out with the Ukraine you can contact Pittman Park.   
 
Councilmember Paulette Chavers asked if the City has a policy in place holding people responsible for the living 
conditions of their rentals. This weekend I drove around and found places way under par. Specifically the Mulberry 
Court area is despicable, doors off of the buildings where people are living and the parking area full of holes.  
 
City Manager Charles Penny stated the best tool we have is Code Enforcement. If you can give us the address we will 
make sure our Code Enforcement Officers go to those properties and they can cite the issue. Through Code Enforcement 
the Court can order improvements, so that is the best mechanism we have in place.   
 
Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr asked if the City Attorney would share any direction about the appropriateness of having 
discussion away from Council in regards to alcohol licensing for package stores. 
 
City Attorney Cain Smith stated that any questions about the application procedure should be addressed to the City Clerk 
or to the Tax Clerk. And if anyone wants an idea of how the City review of the application process goes it is set out 
thoroughly in Section 6-12 and Section 6-13 covers the approval process by Mayor and Council. Mayor and Council 
being the final arbiter of whether or not a license should be granted. Mr. Smith advised that those making the final 
decision not to engage in conversation about the package store process to avoid any image of impropriety and to avoid 
any personal or municipal liability. 
 
Councilmember Phil Boyum reminded everyone that an alcohol license is a privilege not a right.  Our city staff is just 
doing their jobs and they do not deserve to be berated or talked down to or in any other way be treated inappropriately 
during this process. If that comes to light I personally will consider it. 
 
Mayor Jonathan McCollar gave kudos to City Council is consistent in fighting to improve the quality of life for people 
within our community. Everything from the housing situations to the ordinances that we’re working to get more home 
ownership inside the city and improving the homes of those living inside the city.  
Mayor McCollar also gave kudos to the staff for going well beyond the call of duty in many aspects to improve the 
quality of life for the people in this city. We are in a fortunate position as an organization to be able to serve the people 
of the City of Statesboro.  
 

14. City Managers Comments 
 
City Manager Charles Penny recognized Alan Schleder thanking him for stepping in, in Layne’s absence.  
Mr. Penny stated there was a vaccination clinic last Thursday at the Health Department where we gave away 26 gift 
cards. That will conclude our participation in these clinics but we still encourage individuals to receive their vaccination. 
Also Statesboro was selected to receive a testing kiosk from the Health Department. The kiosk will be located at the Fire 
headquarters on Grady Street and should be delivered this week.  
Mr. Penny also reviewed with Mayor and Council a few items from this week’s FYI Packet, the Downtown Master Plan 
hard copy, a group of citizen went up to DOT seeking funding for the bridges for the Creek on the Blue Mile, the 
employee clinic will remain at its current location, and the request for direct funding from Senator Jon Ossoff’s office 
for the Creek on the Blue Mile and the Children’s Zone.   
Lastly Mr. Penny announced that a staff retreat will take place in the latter part of May.  
 
Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr stated we are very pleased with our City Manager Mr. Penny and we are happy to 
acknowledge that where he came from appreciated him as well and he has been invited back up there to be honored by 
naming the lobby of the event center after him in Rocky Mount North Carolina.   



 

7 
 

 
15. Public Comments (General):  

 
Sarah A. Lawrence stated she lives on Akin Street and that area is pitiful. She stated she came to City Hall to request the 
grass to be cut but no one came out to cut the grass. Mrs. Lawrence spoke of other places in the city that are run down 
and in need of attention.  
 
City Manager Charles Penny stated that since the last time we met we have received over 20 applications for housing 
rehab. The folks in the Johnson Street neighborhood are very active.  
 

16. Consideration of a Motion to enter into Executive Session to discuss “Real Estate” and 
“Personnel Matters” in accordance with O.C.G.A. 50-14-3(b). 

 
At 10:10 am a motion was made to enter Executive Session.     
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               NAYS: 
 
 
At 10:20 am a motion was made to exit Executive Session.    
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               NAYS: 
 
Mayor Jonathan McCollar called the regular meeting back to order with no action taken in Executive Session.  
 
A motion was made to approve a Resolution to convey a roughly eight foot wide segment of City Right-of-way along 
Tillman Road to Chapman Rentals, LLC/Gnats Landing of Sboro LLC.     
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               NAYS: 
 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember John Riggs 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 



8 
 

 
17. Consideration of a Motion to Adjourn 

 
A motion was made to adjourn.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
The meeting was adjourned at 10:21 am. 
 
  

_______________________________ 
Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 

 
_______________________________ 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
 
 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

 



 

 

CITY OF STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
 Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum 
Paulette Chavers 
Venus Mack 
John C. Riggs 
Shari Barr 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence  
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

To: Charles Penny, City Manager and Leah Harden, City Clerk 
 
From: Cain Smith, City Attorney 
 
Date: April 12, 2022 
 
RE: April 19, 2022 City Council Agenda Items 
 
Policy Issue: Second Reading of proposed amendment to Chapter 2 of the 
Statesboro Code of Ordinances establishing the Greener Boro Commission. 
 
Recommendation: N/A 
 
Background: Mayor and Council voted to move this measure forward to First 
Reading at the March 15, 2022 work session. First reading was approved on April 
5, 2022. 
 
Budget Impact: None 
 
Council Person and District: All 
 
Attachments: Proposed ordinance revision 



Ordinance 2022-02: 

DIVISION 10. – GREENER BORO COMMISSION  

Sec. 2-100.5. - Establishment; appointment; terms; compensation; removal. 

There is hereby created a board to be known as the Greener Boro Commission. The Greener Boro 
Commission shall consist of nine members who shall be residents of Bulloch County and appointed by 
vote of the mayor and city council. The initial term for five specified initial members of the Greener Boro 
Commission shall end on May 31, 2024, with the initial terms of the other four members ending on May 
31, 2023. Successor members shall be appointed by the mayor and city council for a term of two years. 
Vacancies on the Greener Boro Commission occurring other than by expiration of term shall be filled by 
an interim appointment for the unexpired term by the mayor and city council. The mayor and city 
council shall have the authority to remove any member of the Greener Boro Commission by a majority 
vote for cause, on written charges, after a public hearing. The mayor and city council in consultation 
with the Greener Boro Commission may appoint non-voting ex officio members to said commission to 
provide administrative support and/or subject matter expertise. All members shall serve without 
compensation. 

Sec. 2-100.6. - Chair; rules of procedure and bylaws; meetings; records. 

(a)The Greener Boro Commission shall elect a chair from among its members who shall serve for a term
of one year and who shall be eligible for re-election as chair.

(b)The Greener Boro Commission shall make its own bylaws and rules of procedure and shall determine
its time and place of meetings.

(c)The transactions of the Greener Boro Commission are governed by the Georgia Open Meetings Act
O.C.G.A. §§ 50-14-1 et seq., and it shall be the joint and several responsibility of the members to comply
with the Georgia Open Meetings Act.

Sec. 2-100.7. - Scope of authority. 

The Greener Boro Commission shall have the authority to prepare studies, reports, strategies, education 
efforts and/or programs for the purpose of informing and advising the governing body on policy matters 
related to best municipal practices for environmental sustainability. 

Sec. 2-100.8. - Finances.  

The Greener Boro Commission, in the performance of its duties, may, with the approval of the mayor 
and council, cooperate with and accept funds from federal, state or local public or semipublic agencies 
or private individuals or corporations, and may expend such funds for the purposes of the commission 
with the approval of the mayor and council. Any grants received will be done so pursuant to Resolution 
2012-19 or any other subsequently adopted grant policy of the city. All purchases shall be made in 
compliance with the city's purchasing policy as set out in chapter 5 of the Statesboro Code of 
Ordinances. 



CITY OF STATESBORO 
 

COUNCIL 

Phil Boyum, District 1 

Paulette Chavers, District 2 

Venus Mack, District 3 

John Riggs, District 4 

Shari Barr, District 5 

 
 

 

Jonathan M. McCollar, Mayor 

Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 

I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 • STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence    Certified City of Ethics  

Telephone: (912) 764-5468      Fax: (912) 764-4691                                                                   

www.statesboroga.gov  

To: Charles Penny, City Manager and Leah Harden, City Clerk 

 

From: Justin Williams, Planning & Housing Administrator 

 

Date: April 8, 2022 

 

RE: April 19, 2022 City Council Agenda Items 

 

Policy Issue: Statesboro Zoning Ordinance: Zoning Map Amendment 

 

Recommendation: Planning Commission recommends Approval of the Zoning 

Map Amendment requested by RZ 22-03-01.  

 

Background: Hermann Enterprises, LLC requests a Zoning Map Amendment on a 

0.52 acre parcel from the R-15 (Single-family Residential) zoning district to the O 

(Office) Zoning District in order to expand the commercial uses on the property 

located at 108 South Zetterower Avenue (Tax Parcel # S40 000006 000). 

 

Budget Impact: None 

 

Council Person and District: Mack (District 3)  

 

Attachments: Development Services Report (RZ 22-03-01) 

 

http://www.statesboroga.gov/


 

  

City of Statesboro-Department of Planning and Development 

ZONING SERVICES REPORT 
P.O. Box 348    (912) 764-0630 

Statesboro, Georgia 30458  (912) 764-0664 (Fax) 

 RZ 22-03-01 

ZONING MAP AMENDMENT REQUEST 

108 SOUTH ZETTEROWER AVENUE 

LOCATION: 108 South Zetterower Avenue  

EXISTING 
ZONING: R15 (Single Family Residential) 

ACRES: 0.52 acres 

PARCEL 
TAX  

MAP #: 

S40 000006 000 

COUNCIL        
DISTRICT:            

District 3 (Mack)  

EXISTING 
USE: 

Doctor’s Office  

PROPOSED 
USE: 

Doctor’s Office 

PETITIONER                 Hermann Enterprises, LLC 

ADDRESS                     110 S Zetterower Ave, Statesboro, GA 30458 

 

REPRESENTATIVE     Jessica Hermann 

ADDRESS                    Same As Above 

PROPOSAL 

The applicant is requesting a Zoning Map Amendment from the R-15 (Single-Family 
Residential) to the O (Office) zoning district on a residential conversion home at 108 South 
Zetterower Avenue.  

PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION 

RZ 22-03-01 - CONDITIONAL APPROVAL 

 

 

 

 



Page 2 of 10 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 22-03-01 

 

 



Page 3 of 10 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 22-03-01 

 

  



Page 4 of 10 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 22-03-01 

 

 



Page 5 of 10 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 22-03-01 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

SURROUNDING LAND USES/ZONING 

Location Parcel Location & Zoning Information Land Use 

North Location Area #1:  R15 (Single Family Residential)  Single Family Dwelling   

Northeast Location Area #2:  R15 (Single Family Residential)  Single Family Dwelling 

Northwest Location Area #3:  R4 (High Density Residential) Residential Conversion 

East Location Area #4:  R15 (Single Family Residential) Single Family Dwelling 

West Location Area #5:  R4 (High Density Residential)  Residential Conversion 

Southwest Location Area #6:  O (Office) Psychic Office 

Southeast Location Area #7:  R15 (Single Family Residential) Single Family Dwelling 

South Location Area #8: O (Office)  Realtor Office 



Page 6 of 10 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 22-03-01 

 

SUBJECT SITE 

The subject site is a residential conversion on a 0.52 acre site, on South Zetterower 
Avenue. The property was built as a residence, but for over 20 years has served as a 
psychologist office under both a Conditional Use Variance and a Special Exception. The 
intent of the applicant is allow for commercial uses beyond the current allowance for only 
medical offices at this location. This would require a zoning map amendment.  

The City of Statesboro 2019 – 2029 Comprehensive Master Plan designates the subject 
site primarily in the “Neighborhood Center” area, which is characterized by a blend of lower 
to medium density residential and commercial, personal service, and offices that are 
neighborhood scale in size and intensity. Additionally, the location is in the Established 
Residential Area.  

ENVIRONMENTAL SITE ANALYSIS 

The subject property does not contain wetlands and is not located in a flood zone. No 
significant impact is expected on community facilities or services as a result of this request. 

COMMUNITY FACILITIES AND TRANSPORTATION 

The subject property is currently served by City water and Sewer.  

ZONING MAP AMENDMENT STANDARDS FOR DETERMINATION 

The mayor and city council in exercising its zoning power, shall be governed by the 
following standards in making its determination and balancing the promotions of the public 
health, safety, morality [morals] and general welfare against the right of unrestricted use of 
property: 

1. Existing uses and zoning or [of] property nearby.  

 The surrounding lots consists of single-family homes, residential 
conversions, and offices.  

2. The extent to which property values are diminished by the particular zoning 
restrictions. 

 Although an appraisal has not been conducted on the property, it is Staff’s 
opinion that the proposal will likely increase the overall value of property in 
the area. 

3. The extent to which the description of property values of the property 
owner promotes the health, safety, morals or general welfare of the public. 

 Although an appraisal has not been completed at this time, the proposed 
zoning would bring the property in line with the surrounding uses of the 
area, and would likely shift the remaining properties into a more suitable 
zoning. 

 
4. The relative gain to the public, as compared to the hardship imposed upon 

the property owner. 

 The property has served as a commercial use since 1997, and would not 
substantially change the neighborhood in any significant manner, as the 
proposed zoning is not an intense commercial use.  

 
 



Page 7 of 10 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 22-03-01 

 

5. The suitability of the subject property for the zoned purposes. 

 This zoning is suitable, as multiple surrounding properties are zoned in 
this manner.  
 

6. The length of time the property has been vacant as zoned, considered in 
the context of land development in the area in the vicinity of the property. 

 The property is not currently vacant, but would be restricted to only the 
single-family use or as a medical office as zoned.  
 

7. The extent the proposed change would impact the following:  

 Population density in the area.  
o Population density would only be altered during business hours and 

there is sufficient space on the property for approximately 10 cars.  

 Community facilities.  
o There will be a small impact in the use of City Sewer and Water.  

 Living conditions in the area.  
o This is not applicable to this case, as there is no additional 

residential impact caused.  

 Traffic patterns and congestion.  
o There is likely to be no significant increase at this time. Additional 

ingress and egress is located on Donaldson Street as per the 
existing special exception. 

 Environmental aspects.  
o There are no wetlands on the property, and it is already used in a 

commercial manner.  

 Existing and future land use patterns.  
o Generally the area is surrounded by a mix of high-density 

residential uses and other offices. 

 Property values in the adjacent areas. 
o There would likely be no significant impact in the surrounding 

property values, as most are already used for commercial or uses.  
 

8. Consistency with other governmental land use, transportation, and 
development plans for the community.  

 The proposed residential use of the property is consistent with the City of 
Statesboro 2019 – 2029 Comprehensive Master Plan in the 
“Neighborhood Center.”  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Page 8 of 10 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 22-03-01 

 

 
 

Subject Property 

 

Northern Property 

 

 

 



Page 9 of 10 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 22-03-01 

 

Southern Property 

 

Western Property 

 

 

 



Page 10 of 10 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 22-03-01 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

STAFF/PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends Approval of RZ 22-03-01. If this petition is approved by the Mayor and 
City Council, it should be subject to the applicant’s agreement to the following enumerated 
condition(s): 

1. Approval of this Zoning Map Amendment does not grant the right to develop on the 
property. All construction must be reviewed and approved by the City. 

At the regularly scheduled meeting of the Planning Commission on April 5, 2022, the 
commission recommended approval of RZ 22-03-01 and associated conditions with a 4-0 
vote. 

 

 



 

 

CITY  OF  STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum, District 1 
Paulette Chavers, District 2 
Venus Mack, District 3 
John Riggs, District 4 
Shari Barr, District 5 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence • Certified City of Ethics 
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

 
 
 
 
To: City Manager Charles Penny & City Clerk Leah Harden 
 
From: Tax Department 
 
Date: 4/12/2022 
 
RE: Clarke Beverages 
 
Policy Issue: Mayor and Council shall consider a Location Reservation in accordance with City of 
Statesboro Alcohol Ordinance Chapter 6-13 (a) and 6-23 (h): 
 
No new alcoholic beverage license to sell, dispense, pour or offer to sell, dispense or pour any distilled 
spirits, alcoholic beverages, wine, beer or malt beverages within the corporate limits of the City of 
Statesboro shall be issued to a new owner or new location until the application has been approved by the 
mayor and city council after a public hearing. 
 
Consideration of issuance of location reservations shall be before Mayor & Council and include a public 
hearing. Issuance of a location reservation shall forestall consideration of other Package Store applicants 
within 1,000 yards of subject site. 
 
Recommendation: Planning & Development, Police Department, and Legal recommended approval 
 
Budget Impact: None 
 
Council Person & District: Shari Barr, District 5 
 
Attachments: Application & Department Approvals 



















Clarke Beverages 
607 Brannen St 
Statesboro, Ga 30458 
 
 
Please enter your recommendations and comments with your full name. 
 
Alcohol License Review  
           
 Department           Full Name    Recommendation                               Comments 
 

Planning & 
Development 
 

Justin 
Williams 

Approve  

Fire Department    

    

Police 
Department 

Jared 
Akins 

Approve  

Legal Cain Smith Approve  

    

 
 



 

 

CITY  OF  STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum, District 1 
Paulette Chavers, District 2 
Venus Mack, District 3 
John Riggs, District 4 
Shari Barr, District 5 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence • Certified City of Ethics 
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

 
 
 
 
To: City Manager Charles Penny & City Clerk Leah Harden 
 
From: Tax Department 
 
Date: 4/12/2022 
 
RE: S’Boro Liquors 
 
Policy Issue: Mayor and Council shall consider a Location Reservation in accordance with City of 
Statesboro Alcohol Ordinance Chapter 6-13 (a) and 6-23 (h): 
 
No new alcoholic beverage license to sell, dispense, pour or offer to sell, dispense or pour any distilled 
spirits, alcoholic beverages, wine, beer or malt beverages within the corporate limits of the City of 
Statesboro shall be issued to a new owner or new location until the application has been approved by the 
mayor and city council after a public hearing. 
 
Consideration of issuance of location reservations shall be before Mayor & Council and include a public 
hearing. Issuance of a location reservation shall forestall consideration of other Package Store applicants 
within 1,000 yards of subject site. 
 
Recommendation: Planning & Development, Police Department, and Legal recommended approval 
 
Budget Impact: None 
 
Council Person & District: Shari Barr, District 5 
 
Attachments: Application & Department Approvals 























S’Boro Liquors 
860 Buckhead Dr 
Statesboro, Ga 30458 
 
 
Please enter your recommendations and comments with your full name. 
 
Alcohol License Review  
           
 Department           Full Name    Recommendation                               Comments 
 

Planning & 
Development 
 

Justin 
Williams 

Approve  

Fire Department    

    

Police 
Department 

Jared 
Akins 

Approve  

Legal Cain Smith Approve  

    

 
 



 

 

CITY  OF  STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum, District 1 
Paulette Chavers, District 2 
Venus Mack, District 3 
John Riggs, District 4 
Shari Barr, District 5 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence • Certified City of Ethics 
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

 
 
 
 
To: City Manager Charles Penny & City Clerk Leah Harden 
 
From: Tax Department 
 
Date: 4/12/2022 
 
RE: L/C Package Sales 
 
Policy Issue: Mayor and Council shall consider a Location Reservation in accordance with City of 
Statesboro Alcohol Ordinance Chapter 6-13 (a) and 6-23 (h): 
 
No new alcoholic beverage license to sell, dispense, pour or offer to sell, dispense or pour any distilled 
spirits, alcoholic beverages, wine, beer or malt beverages within the corporate limits of the City of 
Statesboro shall be issued to a new owner or new location until the application has been approved by the 
mayor and city council after a public hearing. 
 
Consideration of issuance of location reservations shall be before Mayor & Council and include a public 
hearing. Issuance of a location reservation shall forestall consideration of other Package Store applicants 
within 1,000 yards of subject site. 
 
Recommendation: Planning & Development, Police Department, and Legal recommended approval 
 
Budget Impact: None 
 
Council Person & District: Paulette Chavers, District 2 
 
Attachments: Application & Department Approvals 























LC Package Store 
2823 Northside Dr W 
Statesboro, Ga 30458 
 
 
Please enter your recommendations and comments with your full name. 
 
Alcohol License Review  
           
 Department           Full Name    Recommendation                               Comments 
 

Planning & 
Development 
 

Justin 
Williams 

Approve  

Fire Department    

    

Police 
Department 

Jared 
Akins 

Approve  

Legal Cain Smith Approve  

    

 
 



 

 

CITY  OF  STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum, District 1 
Paulette Chavers, District 2 
Venus Mack, District 3 
John Riggs, District 4 
Shari Barr, District 5 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence • Certified City of Ethics 
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

 
 
 
 
To: City Manager Charles Penny & City Clerk Leah Harden 
 
From: Tax Department 
 
Date: 4/12/2022 
 
RE: Two Guy Beverage 
 
Policy Issue: Mayor and Council shall consider a Location Reservation in accordance with City of 
Statesboro Alcohol Ordinance Chapter 6-13 (a) and 6-23 (h): 
 
No new alcoholic beverage license to sell, dispense, pour or offer to sell, dispense or pour any distilled 
spirits, alcoholic beverages, wine, beer or malt beverages within the corporate limits of the City of 
Statesboro shall be issued to a new owner or new location until the application has been approved by the 
mayor and city council after a public hearing. 
 
Consideration of issuance of location reservations shall be before Mayor & Council and include a public 
hearing. Issuance of a location reservation shall forestall consideration of other Package Store applicants 
within 1,000 yards of subject site. 
 
Recommendation: Planning & Development and Police Department recommended approval, Legal 
recommended to consider 
 
Budget Impact: None 
 
Council Person & District: John Riggs, District 4 
 
Attachments: Application & Department Approvals 



















Two Guy Beverage 
520 Fair Rd Ste 410 
Statesboro, Ga 30458 
 
 
Please enter your recommendations and comments with your full name. 
 
Alcohol License Review  
           
 Department           Full Name    Recommendation                               Comments 
 

Planning & 
Development 
 

Justin 
Williams 

Approve  

Fire Department    

    

Police 
Department 

Jared 
Akins 

Approve  

Legal Cain Smith Consider  

    

 
 



 

 

CITY  OF  STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum, District 1 
Paulette Chavers, District 2 
Venus Mack, District 3 
John Riggs, District 4 
Shari Barr, District 5 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence • Certified City of Ethics 
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

 
 
 
 
To: City Manager Charles Penny & City Clerk Leah Harden 
 
From: Tax Department 
 
Date: 4/12/2022 
 
RE: Blue Mile Wine & Spirits, LLC 
 
Policy Issue: Mayor and Council shall consider a Location Reservation in accordance with City of 
Statesboro Alcohol Ordinance Chapter 6-13 (a) and 6-23 (h): 
 
No new alcoholic beverage license to sell, dispense, pour or offer to sell, dispense or pour any distilled 
spirits, alcoholic beverages, wine, beer or malt beverages within the corporate limits of the City of 
Statesboro shall be issued to a new owner or new location until the application has been approved by the 
mayor and city council after a public hearing. 
 
Consideration of issuance of location reservations shall be before Mayor & Council and include a public 
hearing. Issuance of a location reservation shall forestall consideration of other Package Store applicants 
within 1,000 yards of subject site. 
 
Recommendation: Planning & Development and Police Department recommended approval, Legal 
recommended to consider 
 
Budget Impact: None 
 
Council Person & District: Venus Mack, District 3 
 
Attachments: Application & Department Approvals 























Blue Mile Wine & Spirits 
12 Brannen St 
Statesboro, Ga 30458 
 
 
Please enter your recommendations and comments with your full name. 
 
Alcohol License Review  
           
 Department           Full Name    Recommendation                               Comments 
 

Planning & 
Development 
 

JLW Approve  

Fire Department    

    

Police 
Department 

Jared 
Akins 

Approve  

Legal Cain Smith Consider  

    

 
 



Prime Route

01/25/2020



 

 

CITY OF STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden City Clerk 
I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum 
Paulette Chavers 
Venus Mack 
John C. Riggs 
Shari Barr 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence  
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

To: Charles Penny, City Manager and Leah Harden, City Clerk 
 
From: Cain Smith, City Attorney 
 
Date: April 12, 2022 
 
RE: April 19, 2022 City Council Agenda Items 
 
Policy Issue: Three year renewal of employment contract with Municipal Court 
Judge Keith Barber  
 
Recommendation: Consideration of contract for approval 
 
Background: W. Keith Barber has served as Municipal Court Judge since 2010, 
with most recent 3 year term renewal in 2019. Charter Section 5-6 vests Mayor 
and Council with the authority to appoint this position. Charter Section 1-2 grants 
Mayor and Council the power to enter into contracts on behalf of the City. 
 
Budget Impact: Salary of $65,000 and costs of benefits as set out in contract 
 
Council Person and District: All 
 
Attachments: Proposed Employment contract 
 
 
 
   



EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT 
 

GEORGIA, BULLOCH COUNTY. 

This agreement entered into this 19th day of April, 2022 by and between the MAYOR 

AND CITY COUNCIL OF STATESBORO, a municipal corporation, its assigns and 

successors, hereinafter known as "City", and W. KEITH BARBER, his heirs, assigns and 

successors, hereinafter known as "Employee" 

WITNESSETH 
 
 
and 

WHEREAS, the City has a Municipal Court and is in need of a Municipal Court Judge; 

WHEREAS, Employee is a practicing attorney and is desirous of fulfilling the 

duties of the office of the Municipal Court Judge; 

NOW, THEREFORE, both parties covenant and agree as follows: 
 
 
 

Employee covenants and agrees to act as the Municipal Court Judge in such a manner 

to accommodate all the needs of the Court, to include: administration of the Municipal Court, 

its docket and its finances, conducting arraignments; conferences with the officers of the 

Court; conducting bench trials as needed; and other such duties that are assigned by the 

Mayor and Council of the City of Statesboro. 

-2- 
 

Employee shall be allowed to practice general, civil and criminal law as long as there 

are no conflicts between his practice of general, civil and criminal law and the duties of 

Municipal Court Judge.  Employee shall, at all times, remain a member in good standing as 

an active member in the State Bar of Georgia.  Suspension or revocation of the Employee's 

license to 



practice law in the State of Georgia shall be grounds for immediate termination of this 

Agreement. 

-3- 
 

This contract shall be for a period of three (3) years from the date this Agreement is 

executed. 

-4- 
 

As compensation for acting as the Municipal Court Judge, Employee shall be paid the 

annual sum of Sixty-Five Thousand Dollars and No/100 ($65,000.00), payable in equal 

installments per the payroll schedule established for other city employees.  In addition to the 

salary compensation, Employee shall participate in the City's health and dental insurance 

program and will be provided with life insurance equivalent to his annual salary, as well as 

long term disability.  These benefits shall equal those offered to regular employees of the 

City. 

-5- 
 

As further compensation for acting as the Municipal Court Judge, the City of 

Statesboro shall provide an amount equal to four percent (4.00%) of Employee's salary into a 

deferred compensation account for Employee's benefit.  Such deferred compensation account 

shall be titled in Employee's name.  No vesting period shall be required by the City.  Such 

account will remain the property of the Employee during and after his employment. 

-6- 
 

All parties acknowledge that Employee is hired by and is responsible to the Mayor 

and City Council and that either party may terminate this agreement upon ninety (90) days 

written notice to the other party, except that this Agreement may be terminated immediately 

in the event 



that Employee is found to have committed serious misconduct as an officer of the Court 

and/or Employee's license to practice law in the State of Georgia has been suspended or 

revoked. 

-7- 
 

City covenants and agrees that Employee shall be allowed to attend required 

Municipal Court training seminars and continuing education and that the City shall pay for 

the expenses of such training, to include registration fee, lodging, travel, and meals in 

accordance with the City's travel policy.  However, Employee is responsible for maintaining 

the required amount of continuing education hours (CLE's), as to maintain good standing 

with the State Bar of Georgia as an active member of the Bar.  The cost of attendance of such 

seminars and continuing education that is unrelated to the specific requirements of the 

position of Municipal Court Judge shall be the sole responsibility of Employee. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, all parties hereto have affixed their hands and seals the 

day and year above written. 

MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL 
OF STATESBORO 

 
                                                                                                  By: ________________________ 
                                                                                                             Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
______________                                                       City of Statesboro 
W. Keith Barber 
Attorney at Law   

Attest:______________________  
Leah Harden 
City Clerk, City of Statesboro 

 
  



 

 

   CITY OF STATESBORO 

    50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 

     STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum, District 1 
Paulette Chavers, District 2 
Venus Mack, District 3 
John Riggs, District 4 
Shari Barr, District 5 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence • Certified City of Ethics 
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • www.statesboroga.gov 

 

 

To: Charles Penny, City Manager 

 

From: Demetrius C. Bynes, Director of Human Resources 

 

Date: April 13, 2022 

 

RE: April 19, 2022 City Council Agenda Items 

 

Policy Issue: Consideration of a motion to approve a lease with ADOM Enterprises, LLC in the amount of 

$42,000.00 for twelve months. 

 

Recommendation: Approve  

 

Background: On March 15, 2022, the Council approved a motion to award a contract for an onsite 

employee health clinic to Everside Health.  Premise Health, the previous vendor, was notified immediately 

and is collaborating with City staff to finalize medical services.  Staff recommends the City of Statesboro 

enter into a lease with ADOM Enterprises, LLC for a period of twelve months.  Supporting the 

recommendation allows the employee health clinic to remain at its current location while also granting time 

for a decision to be finalized concerning the permanent location of the onsite employee health clinic.    

 

Budget Impact: $42,000.00 

 

Council Person and District: Shari Barr, District 5 

 

Attachment: Lease Agreement 

 

   

 


















	04-19-2022 Council Agenda
	2022 proclamation-Georgia Cities Week
	04-05-2022 Council Minutes
	Greener Boro 2md reading memo
	Greener Boro First Reading (1)
	Council_Memo_and_Packet_Apr_2022
	Agenda items 8 - 11 Alcohol applicaitons and approvals
	1- clarke beverages memo
	2- clarke app
	3- clarke approvals
	4- sboro liquors memo
	5- sboro liquors app
	6- sboro liquors approvals
	7- lc package sales memo
	8- lc package sales app
	9- lc package sales approvals
	10- two guy memo
	11- two guy app
	12- two guy approvals
	13- blue mile memo
	14- blue mile app
	15- blue mile approvals

	Judge Barber K Memo
	Employment Agreement -Judge Barber
	ADOM Lease Memo
	ADOM_City Lease
	Distance Map.pdf
	Prime Route




